# Filed 06-26-202 RECEIVED ge 1 of 7

JUN 26 2020

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

# STATE OF WISCONSIN, COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT 2

County of Walworth

Plaintiff-Respondent

VS.

Bozena Twarowski

Defendant-Appellant

Appeal No. 2020AP000208

Circuit Court Case No. 2019FO000954

Honorable Kristine E. Drettwan

# **Brief of Appellant**

Dated: June 22nd, 2020

1. STOP ALC:

Bozena Twarowski - Pro Se 12338 E County Rd A Avalon WI 53505 847-421-5358 boozeenaa5@gmail.com

## **

#### Nature of the Case

This appeal arises from a court trial that took place on December 12, 2019, in which Bozena Twarowska was found guilty by committing the offense of disorderly conduct.

#### **Jurisdictional Statement**

Bozena Twarowska's appeal is from a judgment entered by the Circuit Court of Walworth County Judge Kristine E. Drettwan on December 12, 2019. Appellant, Bozena Twarowska, timely filed her notice of appeal on January 24, 2020.

#### **Issues Presented for Review**

1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in conducting a judgment hearing.

2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in signing the judgment without seeing evidence.

3. Whether the Circuit Court erred to find Robert Peterson as a complainant and eye-witness.

#### **Statement of Facts**

1. On Monday, July 22nd, 2019, I brought the dog to the kennel with my husband Richard Twarowski who signed the contract. The fee for boarding was \$30 per day, and the kennel owner knew the dog was not ours, but he accepted this if I gave him the medical vaccination records for the dog which he received on this day. On the record of vaccination was the actual name of the owner of the dog, which was Ryszard Wikar, his phone number, and address.

2. After one week, on Monday, July 29th, 2019, the kennel owner Mr. Peterson, called to me with information that the dog bit him. I came to the kennel right away and when Mr. Peterson told me to take the dog back because he was afraid to feed him, I asked him if he could agree to keep the dog for the next week if I came to feed the dog every day. He agreed and he did not say anything about increasing the fee. The dog stayed at the kennel for another week and I came every day to feed the dog. The kennel owner did not inform me that it was going to cost me \$100 per day, and I never agreed to pay \$100 per day because simply, I could take the dog to a different kennel for \$30 per day.

3. The owner of the dog, Ryszard Wikar, came to pick up the dog on Sunday, August 4th, 2019, in the evening, but Mr. Peterson refused to release the dog for the boarding fee which would be around \$500, and instead of this, demanded \$1,500 by cash. On this day, I called the police for the first time asking for assistance and to inform the police that the kennel owner does not want to release the dog from boarding. I was told that this is a civil case, not a criminal case. See the attached police report. Since this was Sunday evening, we did not have \$1,500 cash, and the dog stayed in the kennel for the next day.

4. On the next day, Monday, August 5th, 2019, I called again to the police, telling them the dog is held as hostage probably without food, and I was advised to pay for boarding costs like it was agreed at the beginning.

Then I sent a text message to Mr. Peterson asking him if he will release the dog if I pay the boarding cost. Since his answer was not clear and because Mr. Wikar informed me that he will be at the kennel in the afternoon to pick up the dog, I took cash and came to the kennel around 1 pm.

When I came to the kennel, no one was present except the kennel owner who refused to release the dog for the boarding cost, and he refused to let me feed the dog. Mr. Peterson told me to leave his property, and I asked him if he was aware that the owner of the dog, Ryszard Wikar, is on his way to the kennel. His answer was no, and he started yelling at me, "it is better to pay \$1,500 because if I take you to court, it will cost much much more." When I said okay and asked him about a copy of the contract signed by my husband, he refused and started to yell (with spitting) at me and went to his house near the kennel. He was very upset and did exactly what he accused me of doing. When Mr. Peterson asked me to leave his property, I left his office right away and went to the parking lot and sat in my car for ten or fifteen minutes maximum reading the text messages I received in the meantime from Mr. Wikar, and respond to them. I left the property and the hungry dog at 2:23 pm.

5. In two days on Wednesday, August 7th, 2019, I received text messaging from Ryszard Wikar showing me the bill from the kennel that he paid on August 5th, 2019.

All facts that are stated in the Statement of Facts can be verified with my text messaging from my Verizon cellular phone which was denied as evidence by the Judge.

#### Argument

Comparing the police report with court transcript from the hearing, there is major inconsistency. Mr. Peterson was giving false information and had problems to answer some basic questions like dates or names, but the Judge still found him credible even if she had to stop him and ask him again in order to understand him.

1. According to page 3 of 4 of the police report, Mr. Peterson made a serious accusation about my husband, Richard Twarowski, stating that he made a forgery and signed a contract with the name Ryszard Wikar. Mr. Peterson failed to provide a copy of this signed contract as proof that Richard Twarowski signed as Ryszard Wikar. I asked for a copy of the contract (page 14, line 7-9, of the transcript) and the judge ignored my request, even Mr. Peterson stated "I have contracts" (page 13, line 21, of the transcript).

2. Mr. Peterson testified (page 16, line 11, in the transcript) that he reported the bite a few days after the bite. According to the police report (see Exhibit A), Mr. Peterson tried to report the bite one week after it happened. According to the deputy, the finger was all healed up already, and he could not prove that this bite happened.

3. Mr. Peterson testified (page 15, line 2-4, of the transcript) "her brother's name is the same name as the client that owns the dog. So they have the same name." This is not true and can be easy to verify by comparing the signed contract and the dog's medical record.

4. Mr. Peterson was not able to answer the court's question as to what type of dog it was (page 6, line 14-15, of the transcript). His answer was "I can't remember what it was." The Judge still found him credible.

5. Mr. Peterson states (page 8, line 4-5, of the transcript) "she didn't want to pay me for anything." In addition, (page 10, line 8-10, of the transcript) Mr. Peterson says "yes" to the Court's question: "so she comes and wants to take the dog without paying?" This is not true because I send text message to Mr. Peterson on Monday, August 5th, 2019, stating that I want to come pick up the dog and pay for boarding. Unfortunately, the judge refused to take my phone records as evidence. 6. According to Deputy J. Strand #8330, who testified (page 20, line 21-25, and page 21, line 1, of the transcript) "she was not willing to leave... where he felt that he needed to call the police." However, on page 38, line 22-24, of the transcript, the deputy testified: "she did eventually leave the business. Mr. Peterson later called law enforcement." Why did he call the police when Bozena Twarowska was already gone? Based on this inconsistent information, the Judge made her decision (page 42, line 6-7, of the transcript) that Bozena Twarowska caused a "disturbance to the point where he had to call for police help."

There were no other witnesses that could testify on my behavior because only I and Mr. Peterson were present. The Deputy and the Judge repeat what Mr. Peterson said who was complainant and should not be allowed to be the sole eye-witness in the case at the same time. The judgment should be based on the facts and evidence or other eye-witness testimonies. In this case, there were no other eye-witnesses and my evidence was not allowed by the judge for review.

#### Conclusion

For the reasons stated, Bozena Twarowska respectfully requests this Court to change this judgment and find Defendant not guilty, or to send this case to be reviewed by the Circuit Court of Walworth County with Defendant's evidence being submitted to this case.