Filed 07-30-2020

Page 1 of 15

RECEIVED 07-30-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

APPEAL NO. 2020AP000208

COUNTY OF WALWORTH,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

BOZENA TWAROWSKI,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

ON APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF
THE HONORABLE KRISTINE E. DRETTWAN, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY

Zeke S. Wiedenfeld District Attorney for Walworth County, Wisconsin

By: Andrew R. Herrmann
Assistant District Attorney
Attorney for PlaintiffRespondent
State Bar No. 1091342

ADDRESS:

P.O. Box 1001 Elkhorn, WI 53121 (262) 741-7198

Statement of Issues
Statement of Publication and Oral Argument
Statement of the Facts
Argument
I. Sufficient evidence was adduced to enable the court to find Twarowski guilty of disorderly conduct
A. Standard of review 8-11
B. In this case, there was sufficient evidence to support the Court's finding Twarowski guilty of disorderly conduct
Conclusion

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES	:
-------	---

Fox v. State, 60 Wis. 2d 462, 210 N.W.2d 722 (1973)
Kohlhoff v. State, 85 Wis. 2d 148, 270 N.W.2d 63 (1978)
Ruiz v. State, 75 Wis. 2d 230, 249 N.W.2d 277 (1977)
State v. Johnson, 184 Wis. 2d 324, 516 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1994)
State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990) 8-9, 10
State v. Sarabia, 118 Wis. 2d 655, 348 N.W.2d 527 (1984)
State v. Tarantino, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WAS THE EVIDENCE PRODUCED AT THE COURT TRIAL SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT A FINDNG OF GUILT OF DISORDERLY CONDUCT?

Trial court answer: Yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither publication of this court's opinion nor oral argument are necessary in this case. The issues presented are adequately addressed in the brief and under the rules of appellant procedure, publication of this decision is not appropriate because it is a one judge appeal. See Sec. 809.23(1)(b)(4), Wis. Court Rules and Procedures, 2017-18.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The defendant-appellant, Bozena Twarowski, hereinafter Twarowski, was given a citation for disorderly conduct, which occurred on August 5, 2019 (R1, R9:3).

The court trial was scheduled for December 12, 2019 (R9). During the trial, three witnesses were called to testify: the county called Robert Peterson and Deputy Jocelyn Strand, and Twarowski took the stand on her own behalf.

Robert Peterson, owner of Geneva's Paw Retreat located in Walworth County, Wisconsin testified that on August 5, 2019 Twarowski came to his business to pick up a dog that belonged to someone else (R9:9). Peterson explained that

Twarowski and her brother had originally dropped the dog off at his business approximately two weeks earlier and told Peterson that the dog belonged to her brother (R9:5-6). Earlier in the day on August 5th, however, Peterson stated different people came to pick up the dog with paperwork showing that the dog belonged to them (R9:5). Although these people had the proper paperwork to collect the dog, they refused to pay the boarding fees that had accumulated, claiming that Twarowski had to pay the bill (R9:5-7, 9-10). Because the owners of the dog refused to pay the boarding fees, Peterson refused to release the dog to them (R9:9-10).

his owners of the dog left After the business, Peterson stated Twarowski came into his business later in the day and demanded that Peterson release the dog to her; however, Twarowski did not want to pay the bill (R9:7-8, 9-10). Again, Peterson refused to release the dog (R9:8). While speaking with Twarowski, Peterson stated Twarowski started getting hostile (R9:7). At that time, Peterson testified that he told Twarowski, "Please, ma'am, you need to calm down or you need to leave." (R9:7). Peterson stated that Twarowski did not want to pay or leave

1

¹ While at the boarding facility, the dog bit Mr. Peterson. After contacting Twarowski about the bite, Mr. Peterson agreed to keep the dog at the facility for a higher boarding fee (R9:5, 8, 16). According to Mr. Peterson, Twarowski agreed to the higher fee.

and told Peterson to call the police (R9:10). Peterson then told Twarowski that if she did not leave he was calling the police (R9:10).

While speaking with Twarowski, Peterson stated that Twarowski was arguing, would not listen to him and was very hostile (R9:10). Peterson further testified that he asked Twarowski several times to leave his business, but Twarowski refused (R9:11). As a result of Twarowski's behavior Peterson stated he called the police and Twarowski went out and sat in her car for a long time (R9:10-11). Prior to police arrival, Twarowski left the business (R9:11).

Walworth County Sheriff's Deputy Jocelyn Strand testified that on August 5, 2019 she was dispatched to Geneva's Paw Retreat located in the Town of LaGrange, Walworth County, Wisconsin (R9:18-19). Upon arrival, Deputy Strand spoke with Robert Peterson. Deputy Strand, who had just heard Mr. Peterson testify, stated that Peterson's testimony was consistent with the information he gave her on August 5, 2019 (R9:19).

Deputy Strand testified she made phone contact with one of the dog's owners, Inga. Inga explained she and Richard had made arrangements for Twarowski to watch their dog while they were out of town for two weeks (R9:22, 23).

Inga stated it was their understanding that Twarowski was going to be in possession of their dog for that period of time (R9:22). Inga stated that she and Richard were unaware that their dog was at a kennel until their return (R9:22-23).

After issuing Twarowski a disorderly conduct citation, Deputy Strand subsequently met with Twarowski in the lobby of the Walworth County Sheriff's Office (R9:20). Deputy Strand explained to Twarowski the reasons for the citation (R9:20). Mr. Peterson had described Twarowski's conduct as being mean and aggressive, and that Twarowski was yelling at him to the point where he felt that he needed to call the police (R9:20-21). Deputy Strand testified that as she tried to explain the citation to Twarowski, Twarowski's behavior was borderline disorderly. Deputy Strand testified that Twarowski was not accepting what Deputy Strand was telling her to the point where Deputy Strand had to remove herself from the conversation (R9:21).

While speaking with Twarowski, Deputy Strand testified that Twarowski did admit that she had been asked to leave Peterson's business (R9:21).

Finally, Twarowski testified on her own behalf.

Twarowski testified that she did not behave in the manner described by Mr. Peterson (R9:33). Rather, Twarowski

testified she was "begging" Mr. Peterson to release the dog, and she was not refusing to pay the boarding fee originally agreed upon before the dog bit Mr. Peterson (R9:30-33, 36). Ms. Twarowski admitted that she was told to leave Mr. Peterson's business, but refused to leave because the dog's owner was on his way to the business to try and resolve the situation (R9:32-33, 35-36).

Trial Court's Findings of Fact

After closing the evidence and hearing the parties arguments, the Court found Twarowski guilty of disorderly conduct by clear, satisfactory and convincing evidence (R9:42). In so ruling the Court made a number of findings:

[T]he Court has to make a credibility decision here.

I found Mr. Peterson to be credible. He stated that you had dropped off this dog two weeks prior to August 5th. It ended up that you were not the owner. The dog had bitten him at some point during the boarding process. He had called you, wanted you to come get the dog. You begged him to keep it. He said it would cost then a hundred dollars per day and you would have to come feed it yourself, and that you started coming to feed it yourself.

He said when the owners came to pick it up they were not willing or could not pay the bill so he was not going to release the dog. You then came on August 5th. He testified that you would not pay. You were arguing. You wouldn't listen. You were hostile and he asked you to leave many times and you would not to the point where he felt he had to call the police.

The deputy testified that Mr. Peterson said that you were acting mean, you were aggressive, you were yelling, and he felt it was to the point where he needed to call police. You have said that you did not act it that way, but I find Mr. Peterson to be credible.

I also know that the deputy testified that when she did speak with you at the sheriff's office after you received the citation that you were borderline disorderly with her at sheriff's office to the point where she had to step back and not speak to you anymore.

So for all of these reasons I think that you did act in a disorderly manner in that you were in such a way that it did cause a disturbance to the point where he had to call for police help.

(R9:40-42).

ARGUMENT

- I. SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE WAS ADDUCED TO ENABLE THE COURT TO FIND TWAROWSKI GUILTY OF DISORDERLY CONDUCT.
 - A. Standard of review.

Twarowski was found guilty of an ordinance disorderly conduct after a court trial. The principles governing review of a sufficiency challenge are well settled:

appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so lacking in probative value trier and force that no of fact, reasonably, could have found guilt [to required degree of certainty]. If any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial to find the requisite guilt, an appellate court may not overturn a verdict even if it believes that the trier of fact should not have found quilt based on the evidence before it.

State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 omitted). These (1990). (citations principles regardless of the extent to which a conviction rests on circumstantial evidence. See id. at 503.

Although the trier of fact must be convinced that the evidence is sufficiently strong to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of the defendant's innocence, this is not the test on appeal. Id. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court explains:

In reviewing the sufficiency of circumstantial evidence to support a conviction, an appellate court need not concern itself in any way with evidence which might support other theories of An appellate court need only decide the crime. whether the theory of guilt accepted by the trier of fact is supported by sufficient evidence to sustain the verdict rendered.

Id. at 507-08.

An appellate court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trier of fact unless the fact-finder relied on evidence that was "inherently or patently incredible." State v. Tarantino, 157 Wis. 2d 199, 218, 458 N.W.2d 582 (Ct. App. 1990).

The reviewing tribunal does not retry the case on the testimony in the record to determine whether its members are collectively convinced that the defendant committed a

crime. See Fox v. State, 60 Wis. 2d 462, 470, 210 N.W.2d 722 (1973). The question is not whether the reviewing court is persuaded of the defendant's guilt, but whether the trier of fact could have reasonably been convinced to the required degree of certainty. State v. Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 503-04, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990). The test on appeal is not whether the evidence is sufficient to exclude every reasonable hypothesis of innocence, but whether the evidence, direct or circumstantial or both, which the trier of fact had a right to believe, accept or rely on, is sufficient to support its finding of guilt. Id.

It is exclusively the function of the trier of fact to determine the credibility of the witnesses, resolve conflicts in the testimony, weigh the evidence, and draw reasonable inferences from the facts. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d at 504, 506.

In performing its function to sort out the conflicting evidence and determine what actually happened, the fact finder is free to determine which testimony of which witnesses it finds credible, regardless of any conflicts within the testimony of an individual witness or between the testimony of several witnesses, *Kohlhoff v. State*, 85 Wis. 2d 148, 154, 270 N.W.2d 63 (1978), or the number of witnesses who testified to a particular fact. *Ruiz v.*

State, 75 Wis. 2d 230, 234, 249 N.W.2d 277 (1977). And it can piece together the testimony of the various witnesses it found credible to construct a chronicle of the circumstances surrounding the crime. State v. Sarabia, 118 Wis. 2d 655, 663-64, 348 N.W.2d 527 (1984).

B. In this case, there was sufficient evidence to support the court's finding Twarowski guilty of disorderly conduct.

Twarowski argues that the evidence adduced at trial was sufficient to support her conviction of disorderly not conduct. Twarowski complains that only she and Peterson were present at the time of the crime, and that Peterson's inconsistencies rendered his testimony incredible. However, any alleged inconsistencies and contradictions in Peterson's testimony were for the trier of fact to consider in determining credibility. Kohlhoff v. State, 85 Wis.2d 148, 154, 270 N.W.2d 63 (1978). Applying this standard here, no basis exists to conclude that the evidence was insufficient to convict Twarowski of disorderly conduct. The facts as stated in the previous section of this brief clearly supported a finding that Twarowski engaged in disorderly conduct. Although there may have been conflicting evidence, the evidence supporting Twarowski's conviction was not so insufficient in probative value and force that, as a matter of law, no judge could have found guilt.

In short, the trial court heard and was thus able to evaluate the inconsistencies in both Peterson Twarowski's statements, together with all of the other reasons Twarowski was able to muster why the trial court should disbelieve Peterson's testimony. The trial court comments, however, clearly articulate the reason the court found Peterson's testimony credible. This court may not substitute its determination of the credibility of the witnesses for that of the trial courts. Credibility is solely for the fact finder to determine. See State v. Johnson, 184 Wis. 2d 324, 346, 516 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1994). Thus, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the court's finding, this court should conclude that the evidence was sufficient to Twarowski's quilt. Since Peterson and Twarowski's credibility was for the trial court to determine, no basis exists for this court to conclude that the evidence was insufficient to convict Twarowski of disorderly conduct.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the county respectfully requests that this court affirm the trial court's finding of quilt.